IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RICHARD KNIGHT,)
Appellant,))
v.)
STATE OF FLORIDA,)
Appellee.)
)

CASE NO. SC07-841 L.T. NO. 01-14055 CF 10A

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit in and for Broward County, Florida

MELODEE A. SMITH

Florida Bar No. 33121 LAW OFFICES OF MELODEE A. SMITH 101 NE Third Ave. Suite 1500 Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33301 Tel: (954) 522.9297 Fax: (954) 522.9298 MSmith@SmithCriminalDefense.com

Attorney for Appellant

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant, Richard Knight ("Knight"), was the defendant in the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Broward County, Florida. Appellee, State of Florida ("State"), was the plaintiff.

References to the Record on Appeal will be designated by the symbol "R" followed the appropriate volume and page number(s) and encased in parentheses.

References to the Supplemental Record on Appeal Transcripts will be designated by the symbol "R. Supp." followed the appropriate volume number; the symbol "T" followed by the appropriate page number(s), together encased in parentheses.

References to the Trial Transcript will be designated by the symbol "V" followed the appropriate volume number; the symbol "T" followed by the appropriate page number(s), together encased in parentheses.

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has appellate jurisdiction to review the judgment and sentence of a trial court imposing the death penalty. Article V, § 3(b)(1), Florida Constitution; Rule 9.030(a)(1)(A)(1), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Appellant, Richard Knight ("Knight"), was charged by Indictment on August 15, 2001, alleging that on June 28, 2000, Knight unlawfully and feloniously and from a premeditated design to effect the death of a human being, Odessia Donna Marie Stephens, killed and murdered the said Odessia Donna Marie Stephens, by stabbing her, against the form of the statute in such case pursuant to Section 782.04(1) of the Florida Statutes (Count I), and that on the same date Knight did the same to Hanessia Mullings (Count II) (R.1 4-5). Knight entered pleas of not guilty (R.1 6) and the State gave Notice of intent to seek the death penalty (R.1 10).

Knight's public defenders and special appointed public defenders filed numerous pretrial Motions over the next five years until the case came to trial on March 13, 2006. Knight filed his "Motion to Declare Florida's Death Penalty Statute Unconstitutional Based on the Clear Mandate of the United States Supreme Court Decision in *Ring v. Arizona*" (R.5 802-824), which the trial Court denied (R.2 181). Following jury selection where nearly 200 potential jurors participated in voir dire, the jury was sworn in on March 22, 2006 (V.19 T 2137). On March 23, 2006, Knight moved to disqualify the jury panel and for a mistrial based on the jury's exposure to Knight's being handcuffed and shackled during the course of the trial (V.44 T 300) and, following an evidentiary hearing (V.44 T 213-300), Knight's motion for mistrial was denied (V.44 T 311). Before the State presented its opening statement, the Defendant renewed his Motion for a mistrial (V.20 T 2152).

The State, during its opening statement told the jury that on June 28, 2000, a 911 call was made at 12:21 a.m. from an upstairs apartment in the building where the victims lived (V.20 T 2214). Police Officers arrived on the scene and noticed that a bedroom window of apartment 101 was open (V.20 T 2215). An Officer saw Knight and Knight told her he was out jogging (V.20 T 2216). Inside the apartment, Officers found Odessia Stephens and Hennesia Mullings who had both been brutally stabbed (V.20 T 2217).

The State informed the jury that Hans Mullings was Hennesia's father and Odessia's partner. Hans and Odessia allowed Knight to live with them. Knight's relationship with Odessia was strained, and Knight was told to move out of the apartment (V.20 T 2218).

The State told the jury that when the police searched the apartment, they found Knight's clothes with blood on them. Also, the boxer shorts that Knight was wearing the time of his arrest contained Odessia's blood (V.20 T 2218). The clothing found underneath the bathroom sink showed Odessia's, Hanessia's and Knight's blood (V.20 T 2219). In addition, Knight's DNA was found under Odessia's fingernails (V.20 T 2219).

The Defense told the jury during its opening statement that the person who lived in the apartment above 101 heard a young girl saying "No daddy" (V.20 T 2220). The Defense told the jury that no prints were identifiable on the suspected murder weapons (V.20 T 2222). Knight was in the vicinity of the crime when police arrived (V.20 T 2223).

The State's first witness, Rosemary Parisi, testified that she awoke when she heard thumping and cries from two females. (V.21 T 2242-44). Ms. Parisi testified that she went onto her back balcony and still heard frantic crying (V.21 T 2248).

She testified she heard the words: "Oh Daddy, oh Daddy" (V.21 T 2249). Ms. Parisi testified that she believed it was moments between when police arrived and when the crying stopped (V.21 T 2251).

During cross examination, the Defense brought out that Ms. Parisi testified during her deposition that she had heard the screen door open, but she couldn't see who opened it (V.21 T 2261).

Over the Defendant's objection, the Court allowed the jury to hear that during Ms. Parisi's deposition, she testified that it was her impression that the cry for "daddy" was a cry for help by a trapped person who needed help (V.21 T 2266-67). Ms. Parisi testified at trial that she never heard the person cry for "help" (V.21 T 2271).

Coral Springs Officer Vincent Sachs testified he arrived first at the scene (V.21 T 2274). Officer Sachs initially saw a small opening in a window with no screen and a light emanating from the room (V.21 T 2278-81). Thereafter, Officer Sachs said that same window which was ajar was fully open and the light was off (V.21 T 2281). Officer Sachs points his flashlight into the apartment and saw

reddish stains on the carpet leading to front door (V.21 T 2283). While Officer Sachs was investigating outside the building, Knight approached his partner (V.21 T 2285). Knight told the partner that he was out for jog. Officer Sachs testified that Knight was wearing slacks and dress shoes (V.21 T 2285). Officer Sachs also testified that Knight appeared wet but not from sweating (V.21 T 2287). Officers knocked at the door of the apartment building, but no one answered (V.21 T 2289). Officer Sachs entered the building through a screen door and saw a child lying in a fetal position (V.21 T 2291-92). Officer Sachs assisted another Officer enter the apartment through the open window. Once Officer Sachs was inside the apartment, he saw a female lying in the dining room. Officer Sachs testified that he saw no signs of robbery or ransacking (V.21 T 2300-02).

The Defense brought out on cross examination that Officer Sachs had recently resigned from Coral Springs PD after being accused of falsifying police reports (V.21 T 2322). Officer Sachs testified that he failed to document in his report that Knight was wet on the night of the incident (V.21 T 2330, 34).

Coral Springs Police Officer Natalie Cohen Mocny testified that Knight approached her when she was outside of the apartment and told her that he lived there. She testified that Knight also told her that he was taking a run, but that it appeared to her that he had just taken a shower. The Officer also testified that Knight was about a 100 yards away from open window when she first noticed him (V.21 T 2346). The Officer took no pictures of Knight at the scene (V.21 T 2358).

Officer Amy Allen testified that she climbed through the open window to open the apartment front door and that she saw a deceased black female (V.21 T 2362).

Kevin Adams testified that he lifted the latent prints from the apartment, took pictures of the carpeting, took clippings from Knight's hair and found a knife under Odessia's body (V.22 T 2411, 2424; V.23 T 2471, 2474-75). Adams testified that he did not recall processing any towels with blood, and that he did not process the screened-in area outside of the apartment (V.23 T 2506-2510).

Trudi-Kaye Edmund testified that she knew Knight from school and from mutual friends, and that she had a phone conversation with Knight on June 27, 2000, around 11 p.m. (V. 23 T 2525). She testified that she had a 20 minute conversation with Knight, and that she heard the din of pots and pans clanging (V. 23 T 2529). Edmund testified that Knight told her he was cooking and babysitting (V. 23 T 2529, 2531). Edmund testified that she heard a young girl laughing, and that the young girl did not sound distressed (V. 23 T 2531). Edmund testified that she spoke with a little girl who mistook Edmund for her mommy (V. 23 T 2529). Edmund testified that she had an argument with Knight, and that she ended the conversation by telling him not to call her anymore (V. 23 T 2544).

Monica Simms-Dagniewska, who was the adopted sister of Odessia Stephens, testified that she went to the apartment after the murders and that she did not notice any items of value missing (V. 23 T 2550).

Barbara Haydu, a Coral Springs Police Officer, testified that she went to Kinko's to obtain the surveillance tape and corroborated Hans Mullings' alibi on the night of the murders (V. 24 T 2582).

Robert Oehler, a Plantation Police Officer, testified that he took standard palm prints of Knight (V. 24 T 2586).

Hans Mullings testified that he lived at the apartment with Odessia and Hannesia, and that Knight was adopted by his aunt (V. 24 T 2590). He testified that the relationship between Knight and Odessia became strained due to various reasons – that Knight was dating Victoria Martino, that Knight failed to pay rent, and that Knight was incurring long distance charges which he failed to pay (V. 24) T 2600-01). He testified that Knight broke a window in the apartment (V. 24 T 2606). Mullings testified that the boxers found at the apartment were not his (V. 24 T 2649). Explaining his whereabouts on the night of the murders, Mullings testified that he went to Kinko's late on the night of June 27, after which time he went to his friend Sean's house, dropped his brother off at their parent's home, and then dropped another one of his friends off at home (V. 25 T 2667-68). Mullings testified that when he arrived at the apartment, he saw police and assumed it was for Knight because Knight had outstanding traffic warrants (V. 25 T 2669).

On cross examination, Mullings testified that he was unaware that Knight was babysitting Hannesia on the night of the murders (V. 25 T 2679). Mullings testified that, after the murders, he told the police that he was threatened in early June by a woman named Toni, whose car was towed from the nightclub he operated (V. 25 T 2695). Mullings testified that Knight routinely wore jean shorts

underneath his pants and that he recognized the shirt recovered from the apartment as one Knight often wore (V. 25 T 2700-01).

During redirect examination, Hans Mullings testified in the jury's presence that Knight had a "violent background" (V.25 T 2709). Mullings' comment ("I was just assuming that, truthfully, probably Odessia and Richard got into an argument or something because I know Richard's violent background") concerned his reaction to having arrived and observing crime scene tape wrapped around the residence (V.25 T 2709). Though the defense objection to this testimony was sustained and the jury was asked to disregard the comment, the defense pointed out "[t]here's no way they can disregard that" (V.25 T 2710), moving for a mistrial (V.26 T 2752-2781), which the trial court denied (V.26 T 2781).

Joan Menke, a crime scene technician and 30-year veteran of the Coral Springs Police Department, testified that she took pictures of Knight at the police station, and that Knight had scrapes on his chest and cuts on his left hand (V. 25 T 2736-37). Menke also verified that the boxers found in the bathroom and the boxers Knight was wearing were made by the same company (V. 25 T 2741-42). She testified that fingerprints of Odessia and Hannesia were taken at autopsy, and

verified that oral and blood samples were taken from Victoria Martino (V. 26 T 2817). She testified that Odessia appeared to have defensive wounds (V. 26 T 2828). Menke acknowledged that the print left on one of the knife blades was unidentified as of the time of trial (V. 26 T 2848).

Between the presentation of Menke's testimony, the court held a hearing regarding the Defense's Motion for Mistrial. The defense argued that the State elicited Mullings' prejudicial statements during its case-in-chief and not as rebuttal (V. 26 T 2755). The Defense contended that Mullings' description of his reaction to seeing the police tape further suggested bad character to the jury and reinforced the need to grant a mistrial (V. 26 T 2758). The court ruled that Mullings' comment was "nebulous" and denied the Defense's Motion for Mistrial (V. 26 T 2777-81).

Claudine Carter Pereira is Coral Springs' supervisor of latent print analysis (V. 26 T 2878-79). She testified to receiving a total of 13 latent prints, and that she fingerprinted Knight (V. 26 T 2880-82). She testified to finding a print matching Martino on the exterior of the northeast back door of the apartment (V. 26 T 2899),

and that she found an unidentified print of value on one of the knives (V. 26 T 2904).

Detective Terry Gattis, a crime scene investigator with Broward Sheriff's Office, testified to having processed the knives found in the apartment, and to having taken swabs from Knight (V. 27 T 2924-25).

Coral Springs Detective Doug Williams was the lead investigator on the case (V. 27 T 2938). He authenticated that certain items of clothing were taken from Knight, and testified that there were no signs of forced entry in the apartment (V. 27 T 2938-40). Det. Williams testified that his officers had found a garbage bag in the dumpster near the apartment which contained knives and which was linked to apartment 305, which was in the same building as Mullings' apartment; he testified that there was no connection between the bag and the crime (V. 27 T 2948-49). He testified that he received a diagram of the apartment from Stephen Whitsett on July 27, 2000, and that he gave a copy of his investigation file to the State Attorney two weeks before Knight was Indicted (V. 27 T 2960). Det. Williams testified that he made no promises to Whitsett in exchange for his cooperation (V. 27 T 2965).

Kevin Noppinger, a serologist with Broward Sheriff's Office, testified that he received oral swabs from Knight, Mullings, Martino, Dagniewska, and Melanie Robinson (V. 27 T 2987), and that he received various samples from the apartment for testing (V. 27 T 2990). Noppinger testified that the blood on the boxers had a mixture of Odessia and Knight's DNA, and that another portion had a mixture of Odessia's and Hannesia's blood (V. 26 T 3012-13). Noppinger testified that a sample from the shirt found in the bathroom had Odessia's DNA on it, and that the jean shorts found in the bathroom had a mixture of Odessia's and Hannesia's DNA (V. 27 T 3015-16). He testified that no foreign DNA was found in Knight's hair (V. 27 T 3021). Noppinger testified that a blood sample taken from the clothes that Knight had on at the time of detention had Knight's DNA, and that a portion of the shirt had a major profile consistent with Knight, and a minor profile consistent with Odessia (V. 27 T 3023-24). He further testified that the DNA found on the shower curtain contained a mixture of Odessia's and Martino's blood (V. 26 T 3031). Noppinger testified that Knight's fingernails had a minor DNA profile of Odessia's DNA and that Odessia's fingernails had a minor DNA profile of Knight (V. 27 T 3032-34). Noppinger testified that he packaged 15 samples for analysis at Bode Technology Group, because Broward Sheriff's Office lacked the capability to conduct mitochondrial DNA testing (V. 28 T 3055; 3068).

Martin Tracey, a Florida International University biology professor, testified that he reviewed Noppinger's DNA report (V. 29 T 3134-35). Tracey testified that the stains on the boxers matched Odessia and Hannesia's standards (V. 29 T 3137-38; 3144). Tracey corroborated that the DNA found on the shower curtain matched Hannesia and Martino (V. 29 T 3152). Tracey testified that the DNA mixture found on Knight's shirt likely belonged to the victims (V. 29 T 3153-54). Tracey testified that the DNA material on Knight's boxers matched Odessia and Hannesia (V. 29 T 3162-63).

Stephen Whitsett testified that he was incarcerated at Broward County Jail when he met Knight on June 29, 2000 (V. 29 T 3202). Stephens testified that Knight confessed to him about the murders, and that Knight drew a diagram of the apartment in order to explain the events (V. 29 T 3212-16). On cross examination, Whitsett admitted to having been involved in a prison break (V. 29 T 3263).

Faith Patterson, an analyst with Bode Technology Group, testified that she received the samples sent to her by Noppinger (V. 31 T 3293). Patterson testified that neither the victims nor Knight could be excluded from the tested samples (V. 31 T 3302).

When the State began questioning State DNA expert McElfresh of Bode Technology concerning his comparisons of foreign DNA in a mixture found in two samples from the crime scene (a pair of blue jean shorts and a pair of boxers) with standards taken from a minor, Victoria Martino, the latter of which had not previously been sent to the State expert's lab, the defense called for a sidebar and objected, asserting a discovery violation and moving for a mistrial, which the trial court initially overruled without holding a Richardson hearing (V.31 T 3342; 3347-3355). McElfresh then testified that, based on his new comparisons of the foreign DNA in the mixture with the standards from Martino recently supplied to him, that Knight could not be excluded from the samples (V.31 T 3355-3369; 3375). Asked on cross whether his lab had ever analyzed Martino's DNA, McElfresh replied that it had not (V.31 T 3372). Asked when he was first given Martino's DNA standards, he replied "Approximately two weeks ago" (V.31 T 3372). McElfresh agreed on cross that his lab had previously excluded Knight from the samples (V.31 T 3382).

The following morning the defense renewed its objection and Motion for mistrial in the following manner:

MR. EVAN BARON: Your Honor, yesterday, the State called one of their witnesses, Doctor McElfresh from Bode Technology. I believe I have his name correct. If it's not McElfresh, it's close to it. As the Court may recall, prior to that, the other individual who was employed with Bode Technology has, basically, testified that two items of clothing that were found in the bathroom, two tests that were done, one of the boxer shorts and one of the denim jeans, excluded Richard Knight. The DNA excluded him. That was a report that was given over to defense counsel. That's the report defense counsel relied on. Dr. McElfresh, who had not filed any report in this case, but who was listed as a witness, proceeded to get on the witness stand and indicate, basically, because he was given new information that was included in the mix, because, originally, the only information Bode had was the standards of Richard Knight, Odessa Stephens and Hanessia Mullings, he added Victoria Martino to the mix and low and behold he got a different conclusion, which are two items of evidence that was originally at his lab, that he was in charge of at the time. He indicated that those two items were excluded. He now indicated that Richard Knight was not excluded and even went to the point of saying that the

probability of exclusion (sic), I believe, ninety-eight or ninety-nine percent, which is a drastic change in regards to that information. My first notion is to renew my motion for mistrial. I believe based on that evidence that that was a discovery violation. There was, basically – and again, Doctor McElfresh indicated that that information had come to him within two weeks. That means that information was provided to him after we picked a jury or were in the process of picking a jury. We had no information any additional work had been done by any of the expert witnesses, was never given that information, and, as a result, we were given information yesterday that we never had before, could not prepare. And most importantly, I would suggest, we were never able to provide this to our expert, Doctor Norah Rudin. She relied on the reports that were given to us, that we had given to her. Based on the reports she had, it was our belief there was no reason to call her because, basically, from what I understand, she could not get on the stand and disagree with anything. Last night, after Doctor McElfresh's testimony, I e-mailed Doctor Rudin and, basically, told her, as limited as I could, without having a transcript in front of me,

what had taken place, and I gave her exactly why he had changed and she had all the DNA profiles, as well.

THE COURT: She had Veronica's too.

MR. EVAN BARON: Victoria.

THE COURT (JUDGE E. O'CONNOR): Victoria's.

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