IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC07-841

RICHARD KNIGHT

Appellant,

V.

STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA (CRIMINAL DIVISION)

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

WILLIAM McCOLLUM Attorney General Tallahassee, FL

Lisa-Marie Lerner Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No.: 698271 1515 N. Flagler Dr.; Ste. 900 West Palm Beach, FL 33401 Telephone (561) 837-5000 Facsimile (561) 837-5108 Counsel for Appellee

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Issue I - The trial court properly denied a motion for mistrial regarding a witness's comment about Knight's violent background since it was unsolicited, isolated, and did not vitiate the fairness of the trial.

Issue II - The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying a motion for a mistrial since the jury did not see Knight in shackles.

Issue III - The trial court properly found there was no discovery violation and that knight suffered no procedural prejudice when one of the State's statistical experts reevaluated his opinion when given the complete profile standards.

Issue IV - The trial court did not err in refusing to seat a new jury panel for purposes of the penalty phase of trial based on family witness Mullings's comment during the guilt phase proceedings that he knew Knight had a "violent background."

Issue V - Florida's capital sentencing statute is constitutional.

Issue VI - Knight's death sentence is proportional.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED A MOTION FOR MISTRIAL REGARDING A WITNESS'S COMMENT ABOUT KNIGHT'S VIOLENT BACKGROUND (Restated)

Knight argues that an isolated comment regarding his bad character made by his cousin Mullings during his testimony in the State's case was so prejudicial that the trial court abused its discretion in denying his motion for mistrial, instead giving a curative instruction to the jury to disregard the comment. He asserts that this one comment rendered the entire trial fundamentally unfair and that, since the State "cannot establish" the error was harmless, this Court should reverse. The State asserts that the trial court was correct to have sustained the objection and given a curative instruction for the jury to disregard it. It did not abuse its discretion in denying the motion for mistrial. This Court should deny relief on this ground.

During its case in chief, the State presented the testimony of Mullings who was the partner and father of the victims. He was also Knight's cousin who had allowed Knight to live with them when he had no other place to go. He explained that he was at Kinko's after midnight on the night of the murders getting some flyers made for his work. (T:24:2589-92, 2637-42)When he returned, he saw the

police and hesitated to approach the police tape and officers because he thought they were there to pick up Knight for traffic warrants. (T 25:2668-71) He then said on re-direct:

Q: The call that you made from Publix, that was to a friend of your right before you went over to your house that morning when you learned of the news that there were two bodies in the house?

•••

Q: What happened, why did you say you got to go and rush back?

A: I thought – I realized what I saw was not really hose. And I was thinking to myself, if – if they are questioning someone for warrants on TV, they don't usually have that much – that much cops out there. And I note that.

I was just assuming that, truthfully, probably Odessia and Richard got into an argument or something because I know Richard's violent background.

(T 25:2708-09) The defense immediately objected and the court immediately instructed the jury to disregard the statement.² At sidebar, the defense moved for a mistrial because the statement placed Knight's bad character into evidence. The court sent the jury out and instructed the witness to answer only the questions asked and to say nothing about Knight's past or character. (T 25:2709-12) The court allowed the parties time to research the issue and heard argument the

²Juries are presumed to follow the instructions given them. <u>Carter v. Brown</u> & <u>Williamson Tobacco Corp.</u>, 778 So. 2d 932 (Fla. 2000).

following day. The court then determined that the comment about Knight's "violent background" was general in nature and did not refer to any particular incident or criminal case nor did it even indicate whether the violence was Knight's or someone else's in his past. In denying the mistrial, the trial court found the statement was nebulous and speculative in nature and an isolated one, thereby not vitiating the entire trial. (T 25:2709-18, 26:2752-81)

A ruling on a motion for mistrial is subject to an abuse of discretion standard. Smith v. State, 866 So.2d 51, 58-59 (Fla. 2004); Anderson v. State, 841 So.2d 390 (Fla. 2002); Smithers v. State, 826 So. 2d 916, 930 (Fla. 2002); Gore v. State, 784 So.2d 418, 427 (Fla. 2001). A motion for mistrial should be granted only when necessary to ensure the defendant receives a fair trial. Cole v. State, 701 So.2d 845, 853 (Fla.1997); Goodwin v. State, 751 So.2d 537, 546 (Fla. 1999). "A motion for a mistrial should only be granted when an error is so prejudicial as to vitiate the entire trial." England v. State, 940 So.2d 389, 401-2 (Fla.2006); see Hamilton v. State, 703 So.2d 1038, 1041 (Fla.1997) ("A mistrial is appropriate only where the error is so prejudicial as to vitiate the entire trial."). "Moreover, as this Court stated in Goodwin, the use of a harmless error analysis under State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla.1986), is not necessary where 'the trial court recognized the error, sustained the objection and gave a curative instruction."

Gore, 784 So.2d at 428. "Instead, the correct appellate standard of review is abuse of discretion." Rivera v. State, 859 So.2d 495, 512 (Fla.2003).

Under the abuse of discretion standard, an appellate court will uphold a trial court's ruling unless the "judicial action is arbitrary, fanciful, or unreasonable.... [D]iscretion is abused only where no reasonable [person] would take the view adopted by the trial court." Trease v. State, 768 So.2d 1050, 1053 n. 2 (Fla.2000) (second alteration in original) (quoting Huff v. State, 569 So.2d 1247, 1249 (Fla.1990)). Thus, Knight is entitled to a new trial only if this one isolated comment about his "violent background" deprived him of a fair and impartial trial, materially contributed to the conviction, was so harmful or fundamentally tainted as to require a new trial, or was so inflammatory that it might have influenced the jury to reach a more severe verdict than that it would have otherwise. Spencer v. State, 645 So.2d 377, 383 (Fla.1994). That is clearly not the case in this instance.

This was a single comment made during a three week guilt phase trial. As noted above, the trial court immediately sustained the objection and gave a curative. Although a harmless error analysis is not required, the evidence of guilt was overwhelming so there is little or no chance that this error materially contributed to the verdict or the degree of the conviction. Knight was living in the apartment and had an ongoing disagreement with Odessia. (T 23:2555-57, 2600-

01; 24:2589-92, 2600-01, 2606-7, 2699-2701) He was in the home that night around 11:30 P.M. with Hanessia playing in the apartment as evidenced by the telephone call with Edmonds. (T 23:2524-45) The murders happened around midnight. Mullings was at Kinko's around the time Parisi heard the noise and crying in the apartment below hers; the time on both the video tape and register receipt verify this. Parisi's 911 call came in at 12:21 A.M. and the police arrived by 12:29 A.M.. (T 21:2240-72, 2274-75) Knight showed up at the scene within minutes with wet hair and clothes. (T 21:2340-42, 2346) Two wet towels were found in his bedroom which also had its window open and the blinds outside the window as if someone had exited the apartment that way. His clothes, covered in the blood of both victims as well as his own, were in a pile under the sink in the bathroom he used. He also had the same mixture of blood on the clothes he was wearing as well as a dirt mark on the back of his shirt consistent with rubbing against the window as he exited. He had cuts on his hand consistent with being injured while stabbing. Finally, he asked Whitsett to help him with his problems with the blood evidence. In seeking that assistance, he drew the diagram of the apartment including the locations of the attacks and the bodies while he explained how the murders occurred. (T 29:3208-122, 30:3267-69) Mullings's one comment did not vitiate the entire trial and the court did not abuse its discretion in denying the motion for mistrial.

Knight's reliance on Henderson v. State, 789 So.2d 1016 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2000), Cooper v. State, 659 So.2d 442 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1995), and Brooks v. State, 868 So.2d 643 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2004) does not assist his argument since they are distinguishable. These cases involved the improper admission of evidence of a defendant's prior criminal history, unlike here where it was a general comment on the defendant's background which, at most, might reflect on his character rather than specific instances of criminal behavior. In Henderson, a retired chief of police with twenty years of experience was the victim. During his testimony he stated that Henderson looked like he had committed robberies before given the witness's observations of his behavior during this one. Henderson, 789 So.2d at 1017-18. In Cooper, the victim of the attempted murder volunteered that the defendant had raped his own daughter. Each of these cases involved the credibility of the defendant, each of whom gave exculpatory statements, as opposed to the credibility of the witnesses making the statements who presumably had knowledge the jury did not. In Brooks the victim was the former wife of the defendant and the charges were aggravated assaults. The defense was self-defense based upon statements Brooks gave the police. Thus the issue was the credibility of the victim

as compared to the defendant. The witness told the jury that Brooks had been to prison before for spousal abuse. That error attacked the defense and bolstered the witness's credibility so that no curative instruction could cure it. All the cases cited by Knight in support of his stance involve improper statements of specific acts of prior criminal conduct by the defendants and, thus, are very different from what happened in Knight's trial.

There are several cases with factual scenarios closer to this one and are consequentially more instructive. In <u>Bacallao v. State</u>, 513 So.2d 738 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1987) a witness made an unsolicited comment that the defendant was a "dangerous person" but the court held that the curative instruction given was sufficient and the motion for mistrial was properly denied. In <u>Villanueva v. State</u>, 917 So.2d 968 (Fla. 3rd DCA 2005) the defendant was charged with attempted second degree murder with a gun. During his testimony the victim said that the defendant liked to "scare people with his gun." The court sustained the objection and gave a curative instruction. Later, another witness said that the defendant was always looking for trouble. Again, the trial court gave a curative instruction. The appellate court held that the curative instructions were sufficient and that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying the motions for mistrial.

This Court has also tackled similar scenarios. In Cole a State witness, despite being instructed prior to testifying, volunteered her knowledge of Cole's prior criminal history. The trial court denied the motion for mistrial but offered a curative instruction. This Court found "the reference was isolated and inadvertent and was not focused upon" and, thus, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying the motion for mistrial. Cole v. State, 701 So.2d at 853. In Gore this Court held that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying the mistrial motion made when the State's thirteen year old witness volunteered that she had an intimate relationship with defendant, thereby bringing in evidence of bad character as well as a specific instance of criminal conduct. This Court reasoned that the curative instruction was enough since the comment was isolated and was not focused on by the State in the remainder of the case. Gore v. State, 784 So.2d 418 (Fla.2001). Similarly, here the statement which could possibly be construed as bad character evidence was equally isolated, not solicited, and not mentioned again for the rest of the trial. The curative instruction properly dealt with this error. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Knight's motion for mistrial.

ISSUE II

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING A MISTRIAL SINCE THE JURY DID NOT SEE KNIGHT IN SHACKLES. (Restated)

Knight next argues that the trial court improperly denied his motion for mistrial based upon his allegation that the jury had seen him in handcuffs and shackles. In making this argument Knight assumes that the jury was indeed exposed to him in restraints despite the factual findings the trial court made to the contrary after conducting an evidentiary hearing. He asserts that this alleged error was so prejudicial because the jury may have believed that his behavior was uncontrollable and that he would be so dangerous in the future that death was the "only appropriate penalty." (IB 49) The State disagrees. The jury did not see Knight in shackles so there could be no error. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying the motion for mistrial.

On the last day of jury selection, after the jury had been empaneled, the bailiff led the panel into the jury deliberation room. While they were inside, the custody deputies took Knight from his holding cell along a back hallway to escort him back to the jail facility; he was in jail garb, was handcuffed, and had on leg shackles. The jury room opened into that same hallway. As the two deputies and Knight were passing the jury room door, the bailiff opened it briefly. At the time

Knight contended that a number of juror had seen him in handcuffs and leg shackles. (T 44:213-15)

The court decided to conduct an evidentiary hearing. Knight testified first. He stated that he was being taken out of the courtroom by two deputies, one behind him and the other on his side. They were in the back hallway just passing the jury room door when it opened and the bailiff came out. The bailiff saw him and tried to push the jurors back into the room and close the door. Two or three of the jurors were in the door area and Knight saw them only three or four feet away. He described two of the jurors. During a viewing, Knight described how a juror was holding the door open at a 45 to 65 degree angle as he passed in the middle of the hall. Knight immediately informed the deputies who denied that he had been seen by the jury. (T 44:216-52)

The bailiff Louis Oitzer ("Oitzer") testified next. He had just finished having the jurors do some necessary paperwork and he opened the door from the jury room to the back hall. One of the jurors was immediately behind him. Oitzer had the door open maybe 30 degrees and his body was actually in between the door and its jam. He saw Knight and immediately pushed the juror back and closed the door while blocking the opening with his body, which was large. He remained outside the door ensuring that it remained closed with the jury inside until Knight had left

the hallway. (T 44:252-66) The court reenacted the situation to see who could see what. Deputy Ronald Sheppard ("Sheppard"), taking the place of the juror next to Oitzer, could not see Knight at all from the position Oitzer said the door was in and could only see Knight's upper body (above any cuffs or shackles) from the door's position Knight recalled. In neither instance could Sheppard see Knight's lower arms, hands, waist, or legs. (T 44:267-73)

Next the two deputies escorting Knight testified. Allen Hollinger ("Hollinger") said that Knight had handcuffs on and leg shackles. When passing the door, he was in front of Knight facing backward since he was instructing the other deputy on the procedures used in the courthouse. The door opened as he stood parallel to the jam closest to the courtroom blocking the door to Knight who was between him and the other deputy. He said something to Oitzer who immediately closed the door. He could see one juror a few feet behind Oitzer and the rest were near the table back in the room. Hollinger did not believe any juror could possibly have seen Knight. (T 44:273-85) The other deputy Craig Deguiceis ("Deguiceis") testified that he never even saw the door to the jury room open although he heard it and heard Hollinger's comment. He was eye to eye with Hollinger when he heard the door open; Knight was about a foot and a half away from the door with Hollinger blocking his view of the door. The court reenacted the situation again from Deguiceis's perspective; Knight would not have been able to see Oitzer or inside the room at all but could only see a portion of the door. (T 44:285-96)

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